#### **CASE NO. S260209**

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### MICHAEL GOMEZ DALY et al.,

Petitioners (in superior court) and Respondents (on appeal),

v.

#### BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, et al.,

Respondents and Real Party in Interest (in superior court) and Appellants,

After Order by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Two Civil No. E073730

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

MEYERS, NAVE, RIBACK, SILVER & WILSON

Deborah J. Fox (SBN: 110929)\*

dfox@meyersnave.com

T. Steven Burke, Jr. (SBN: 247049)

tsburke@meyersnave.com

Matthew B. Nazareth (SBN: 278405)

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

The following issues are presented for review in this matter:

- (1) Did plaintiffs properly challenge real party in interest's appointment as Third District Supervisor by a petition for writ of mandate under Government Code § 54960.1, subdivision (a), or was an action in quo warranto under Code Civ. Proc. § 803 et seq., the exclusive procedure for such a challenge?
- (2) Is a judgment automatically stayed pending appeal as a mandatory injunction where it commands a County Board of Supervisors to rescind its appointment of a sitting supervisor and prohibits the sitting supervisor from exercising her official duties?

(See Petition for Review; February 19, 2020 Order Granting Petition for Review; March 5, 2020 Order; Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.520(b)(2)(A).)

#### II. INTRODUCTION

This case presents the Court with an opportunity to reaffirm the democratic right of the People to authorize and control judicial challenges to a public official's right to hold office. Quo warranto proceedings, which may only be brought by or with the authorization of the Attorney General, have long been recognized as the generally exclusive procedure for challenging an official's right to office. The doctrine of quo warranto protects the stability of local governance by ensuring challenges are only brought when they are in the public interest, rather than based on a private or political dispute. Quo warranto's important safeguards are crucial not only to appellants, but indeed to every local and county governing body in the State. This case places this important doctrine at stake.

Here, the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors (the Board) unanimously appointed Dawn Rowe to fill a vacancy in the position of Third District Supervisor after a lengthy public process that spanned several weeks and numerous public meetings. Respondents and petitioners in the superior court, Michael Gomez Daly and Inland Empire United (collectively, I.E. United), filed a petition for writ of mandate seeking an order rescinding the Board's appointment of Dawn Rowe to the Third District seat and commanding that the Board seat a new appointee by the Governor in her place, asserting a procedural error in the early screening of applicants.

I.E. United's attempt to challenge Supervisor Rowe's right to the Third District Supervisor seat through a writ of mandate should never have proceeded. As this Court has long held, "absent constitutional or statutory regulations providing otherwise, quo warranto is the only proper remedy in cases in which it is available." (*Cooper v. Leslie Salt Co.* (1969) 70 Cal.2d 627, 633.) Here, quo warranto is the exclusive remedy because (1) it is an available remedy and (2) there are no constitutional or statutory exceptions to its exclusivity.

First, quo warranto is available here to challenge the right to the Third District seat regardless of the underlying basis for the challenge, including the contested allegation that the process leading to the official's appointment was improper under the open meeting provisions of the Ralph

M. Brown Act (Gov. Code, § 54950 et seq.). I.E. United's action directly challenges Supervisor Rowe's right to hold office and maintain her seat on the Board of Supervisors. Quo warranto is its remedy.

Second, the Brown Act does not provide an exception to quo warranto's exclusivity. Courts have recognized limited exceptions to quo warranto's exclusivity only where there is a statute which expressly provides for challenges to the right of office. But, the Brown Act's general provisions authorizing mandamus relief to nullify action taken in violation of the Act do not address challenges to public office and evidence no intent by the Legislature to create a statutory exception to quo warranto's exclusivity. Under existing law, quo warranto is therefore I.E. United's exclusive remedy for challenging Supervisor Rowe's title and right to the Third District seat.

Furthermore, there are strong public policy reasons to support quo warranto's exclusivity in the circumstances presented by this case. In particular, quo warranto proceedings must be authorized by the Attorney General, which serves to ensure that any challenge to public office is in the best interest of the public at large rather than simply a workaround to address a party's private or political agenda. Moreover, quo warranto is a procedural mechanism that allows for adjudication of any underlying substantive rights, including an asserted Brown Act violation. Thus, the Court does not have to choose between the policy goals of quo warranto

and those of the Brown Act to resolve the quo warranto issue presented for review; maintaining quo warranto's exclusivity promotes the policy goals of quo warranto while adjudicating a Brown Act dispute. The negative effects—not just to appellants, but indeed to all county and local governments in California—from a renunciation of the long-standing quo warranto process would be profound.

In addition to the important questions surrounding a challenge to a public official's right to office, review in this case has also been granted on an important issue of appellate procedure—the scope of the automatic stay. This case comes to this Court after the superior court improperly proceeded in mandamus, and ultimately entered a Judgment and Peremptory Writ of Mandate ordering the Board to rescind Supervisor Rowe's appointment and seat an appointee by the Governor in her place. If the Court ultimately determines that it was appropriate for the superior court to proceed in mandamus, appellants respectfully request that the Court hold that the automatic stay is applicable to the Judgment and Peremptory Writ of Mandate because it orders injunctive relief that alters the status quo (Supervisor Rowe holding public office) and requires affirmative action by the Board (rescinding Supervisor Rowe's appointment). Application of the automatic stay here accords with longstanding rules of appellate procedure, and serves to provide certainty, clarity, and continuity to local governments navigating challenges to officials' right to hold public office.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. The County Charter Specifically Vests in the Board of Supervisors the Authority to Fill a Vacant Seat

The County of San Bernardino (the County) is a charter county and the largest county in the United States by area. (See Petition for Writ of Supersedeas (Petition) at ¶ 3.) The County's legislative and governing body is the Board. (*Id.*) The Board consists of five members, one from each of the five supervisorial districts in the County. (*Id.*) The Board also sits as the governing body for ten other districts and agencies. (*Id.*)

When a vacancy arises on the Board, the County Charter provides that it "will be filled by appointment by majority vote of the remaining members of the Board from amongst the qualified electors of the supervisorial district in which such vacancy exists." (Exh. 1 at p. 9, Art. 1, sec. 7¹.) The Charter does not mandate any specific process for the Board's power of appointment, instead leaving the process entirely to the discretion of the remaining Board members. (*Id.*) In the event the Board does not make an appointment to fill the vacancy within 30 days, then the Governor of California makes the appointment. (*Id.*)

In the November 6, 2018 General Election, then Third District Supervisor James Ramos was elected to represent the 40th Assembly

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references to Exhibits are to the Exhibits to Appellants' Petition for Writ of Supersedeas unless otherwise specified.

District in the California State Assembly. (Exh. 12 at p. 293.) On December 3, 2018, Ramos took the oath of office for the California State Assembly, thereby creating a vacancy in the office of Third District Supervisor. (Exh 12. at p. 294.) Thus, pursuant to the Charter, the Board had 30 days to appoint a replacement to the Third District seat, *i.e.* by January 2, 2019. (See Exh. 1 at p. 9, Art. 1, sec. 7.)

## B. The Board Unanimously Appoints Dawn Rowe as Third District Supervisor Following Several Public Meetings

1. The Board Sets An Initial Process to Fill the Vacant Third District Seat

Understanding that the County was faced with a highly expedited time frame to fill the vacancy, which included the holiday season, the Board proactively exercised its discretion to establish a process for filling the vacancy. (See Exh. 12 at pp. 293–294.) On November 13, 2018, the Board convened a duly-noticed special meeting as part of its concerted effort to expeditiously plan for, and manage, the appointment process during this abbreviated time frame. (*Id.*) The Board originally planned to interview the applicants at a public meeting on December 11, 2018. However, when the Board received an unexpectedly large pool of 52 applications, 48 of which were eligible for consideration, it determined the process needed to be reevaluated. (Exh. 12 at p. 294.)

2. The Oversized Applicant Pool Results in the Board Modifying the Appointment Process

The oversized pool of candidates meant that it would be nearly impossible for the Board to interview all 48 applicants before making an appointment within the 30-day period over the holidays and, accordingly, the Board opted to reconsider its selected appointment process and agendized this issue for the December 4, 2018 Board meeting. (Petition at ¶ 9.) At that meeting, the Board voted 3-1 to modify the process. (*Id.*) Under the modified process, the Clerk of the Board was directed to send a Supplemental Questionnaire to all 48 qualified applicants and answers were due back to the Clerk's office by Friday, December 7, 2018. (*Id.*) Then, those supplemental responses would be sent to the Board of Supervisors. (*Id.*) Next, each Board member could individually submit up to ten names of applicants to the Clerk of the Board by Monday, December 10, 2018 at 10:00 a.m. and any applicant receiving at least two acknowledgements would then be interviewed by the Board. (*Id.*)

After reviewing questionnaires timely completed by 43 of the applicants, the Supervisors each individually notified the Clerk of the Board of the applicants that he or she wished to publicly interview.

(Petition at ¶ 9.) Importantly, there were no discussions or deliberations between or among any of the Board members. (*Id.*) It is this one-way transmission from each individual Supervisor to the Clerk of the Board that

forms the entire basis of I.E. United's challenge to Supervisor Rowe's appointment.

3. The Board Publicly Interviews Thirteen Applicants Thirteen applicants received two or more acknowledgements and were invited to the December 11, 2018 publicly-noticed special Board meeting, which notice specifically called out that the Board would be holding these public interviews. (Exh. 12 at p. 295.) After public interviews of the thirteen applicants and a following public comment period, collectively spanning more than five and a half hours, the Board unanimously identified five applicants for further public interviews and set the additional interviews for its upcoming December 13, 2018 special Board meeting. (Exh. 12 at p. 295; see also Motion to Augment, Exh. A at pp. 5–6; Motion to Augment, Exh. B at pp. 252–253; https://www.sbcounty.gov/main/Pages/ViewMeetings.aspx, accessed May 3, 2020.) I.E. United did not object to the propriety of the selection process, nor offer any comments on any of the applicants for the vacant seat at this meeting. (See Motion to Augment, Exh. A at p. 5; Motion to

Also on December 11, 2018, the Board received a letter from a County resident (not either of the petitioners) alleging that the process employed to date for selecting applicants for public interviews was a Brown Act violation. (Petition at ¶ 12; see also Exh. 12 at pp. 295–296.)

Augment, Exh. B.)

Ultimately, the Board did not take any action at the December 13, 2018 Board meeting. (Exh. 12 at p. 296.)

4. The Board Rescinds the December 4, 2018 Process and Adopts a New Appointment Process

For the next regularly scheduled Board meeting on December 18, 2018, the Board published its agenda and gave notice that it would be considering:

- a. Rescinding the appointment process;
- b. Rescinding the December 10, 2018 establishment of an interview list of thirteen applicants;
- c. Rescinding the December 11, 2018 list of five finalists;
- d. Adopting a new appointment process; and
- e. Appointing a new Third District Supervisor.

#### (Petition at $\P$ 13.)

At about 6:30 a.m. on the morning of this Board meeting, I.E. United sent an email correspondence alleging the process of inviting only some applicants for public interview on December 11, 2018 was a violation of the Brown Act. (Exh. 12 at p. 296; Petition at ¶ 14.) I.E. United specifically demanded that all 48 qualified applicants be interviewed as the only feasible cure for the alleged violation. (Exh. 12 at p. 296; Petition at ¶ 14.)

At the December 18, 2018, meeting, out of an abundance of caution, the Board voted to:

- a. Rescind its prior public interview list of 13 applicants and the 5 publicly-selected finalists;
- b. Rescind the prior appointment procedure;
- c. Adopt a new process for filling the Third District vacant seat whereby each Supervisor would publicly submit up to three names to the Board Clerk from the entire list of forty-three (43) qualified applicants; and
- d. Conduct an open session interview of the publicly-selected nominees under the new process.

(Petition at ¶ 16.)

5. The Board Publicly Interviews Six Applicants

The new nomination process resulted in the interviews of six applicants, including one who had not been interviewed before. (Exh. 12 at p. 297.) The Board listened to public comments from twenty-one (21) individuals, which spanned nearly two and one-half hours. (Exh. 12 at p. 298; Petition at ¶ 16.) After the public selection of nominees, public comments, and public applicant interviews, the Board publicly deliberated and voted unanimously to appoint Dawn Rowe as Third District Supervisor. (Exh. 12 at pp. 298–299; Petition at ¶ 16.) Supervisor Rowe was sworn in on December 18, 2018 and has held the office of Third District Supervisor since, capably performing all acts and duties incumbent in the office. (Exh. 12 at p. 299; Petition at ¶ 16.)

On December 20, 2018, County Counsel responded to I.E. United's prior demand letter, providing written notice of the curative/corrective action to I.E. United and specifically detailing the new process that the

Board had adopted on December 18, 2018 pursuant to Government Code section 54960.1, subdivision (c)(2). (Exh. 12 at p. 299; Petition at ¶ 17.)

I.E. United did not serve any notice objecting to the modified procedures implemented at the December 18, 2018 Board meeting. (Petition at ¶ 17.)

C. I.E. United Files a Petition For Writ of Mandate Seeking the Removal of Supervisor Rowe From Office Without Following the Statutory Requirements to Bring a Quo Warranto Action

On December 31, 2018, I.E. United filed a Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1085, challenging the Board's unanimous appointment of Supervisor Rowe on the basis that an early step in the process of inviting applicants to be publicly interviewed allegedly violated the Brown Act and thereby irretrievably tainted the entire lengthy public process that followed. (Exh. 2.) The Petition was not brought as a quo warranto proceeding under Code of Civil Procedure section 803, nor with the authorization of the Attorney General of California. (See Exh. 2.)

I.E. United's Petition for Writ of Mandate requested the superior court "order [the Board] to rescind the appointment of Dawn Rowe as Third District Member of the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors" and order that "the appointment of the Third District Member of the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors shall be made by the Governor."

(Exh. 2 at pp. 28–29, ¶¶ 58–59; see also Exh. 9 at pp. 169–170, ¶¶ 70–71 [First Amended Petition for Writ of Mandate requesting same relief].)

Appellants twice demurred to the Petition for Writ of Mandate on the basis that quo warranto is the exclusive means to challenge the right to hold office. (See Exhs. 3, 4 at pp. 96–100; Motion to Augment, Exhs. C at p. 288, D at pp. 308–310.) The trial court overruled the demurrers, in part, rejecting appellants' legal argument that quo warranto is the exclusive remedy. (Exh. 8 at pp. 152–153; see also Motion to Augment, Exh. E at p. 316.) The Court ruled that "the ultimate effect may result in Rowe's removal [from] the Third District Supervisor seat," but nevertheless, denied appellants' motion to terminate the improper writ matter. (Exh. 8 at p. 153.) Appellants again raised the need for this challenge to proceed by way of quo warranto in the writ briefing on the merits. (Motion to Augment, Exh. F at p. 334.)

The writ of mandamus case proceeded despite appellants' continued objections as to the need for a quo warranto proceeding, resulting in the superior court entering a minute order and Statement of Decision on September 18, 2019, granting I.E. United's Petition for Writ of Mandate. (Exhs. 11, 12.) The Judgment entered by the superior court ordered that a "peremptory writ of mandate shall issue from the Court":

- a. [C]ommanding Respondents immediately to rescind the appointment of Rowe as Third District Supervisor;
- b. [P]rohibiting Respondents from allowing Rowe to participate in an official capacity in any meetings or Board actions, and from registering or otherwise giving effect to any further votes cast by Rowe;
- c. [P]rohibiting Respondents from making any appointment to the position of Third District Supervisor of the San Bernardino Board of Supervisors; and
- d. [C]ommanding Respondents to immediately seat any person duly appointed to the position of Third District Supervisor by the Governor.

(Exhs. 13, 22.) The superior court also signed and entered the Peremptory Writ of Mandate that substantially mirrored the Judgment. (Exh. 23.)

## D. Notwithstanding Appellants' Immediate Appeal From the Judgment, I.E. United Disputes the Automatic Stay

On November 13, 2019, appellants perfected their appeal from the Judgment, seeking to challenge the Judgment and Peremptory Writ on several grounds including, among others, that: (1) the proceeding could only have been brought as a quo warranto action; (2) that the alleged error did not constitute a violation of the Brown Act; (3) that appellants cured any alleged violation, (see Gov. Code, § 54960.1, subd. (e)); and (4) that the superior court erred by not requiring I.E. United to establish prejudice, (see, e.g., *Fowler v. City of Lafayette* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 68, 79, as modified on denial of reh'g (Mar. 11, 2020).)

Immediately after appellants perfected their appeal on November 13, 2019, a dispute arose between the parties regarding the enforceability of the

Judgment and Peremptory Writ pending appeal. On November 21, 2019, appellants brought an ex parte application before the superior court, seeking an order confirming that the Judgment was automatically stayed. (Exh. 25.) The superior court denied the ex parte application, but stayed the Judgment for 10 days to allow appellants to seek relief in the Court of Appeal. (See December 6, 2019 Notice of Submission of Superior Court Hearing Transcript at 35:15–23.) Appellants sought a Writ of Supersedeas in the Court of Appeal. (See Petition.) The Court of Appeal granted appellants' request for an immediate stay, but later summarily denied the Petition on January 8, 2020. The Court of Appeal held that the superior court had found Supervisor Rowe's appointment was "null and void" and therefore "the seemingly mandatory acts required in the superior court's injunction and writ of mandate are merely incidental to that finding and the injunction and writ of mandate are prohibitory in nature." (Petition for Review, Exh. A.)

The day after the Court of Appeal's summary denial of the Petition for Writ of Supersedeas, I.E. United filed an ex parte application in the superior court seeking an order enforcing the Judgment and Peremptory Writ of Mandate, including ordering that Supervisor Rowe immediately cease function in her official capacity as Boardmember and, in the alternative, seeking to hold appellants in contempt of the Judgment and Peremptory Writ for failing to immediately rescind Supervisor Rowe's

appointment to the Third District seat. (Motion to Augment, Exh. G at p. 339.) Among other things, I.E. United sought to hold appellants in contempt based on Supervisor Rowe's designation as San Bernardino County Supervisor on the ballot for the March 3, 2020 California primary election. (*Id.*) On January 13, 2020, the superior court heard the ex parte application and set the matter over for hearing on January 24, 2020.

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