Case No. S260209

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MICHAEL GOMEZ DALY and INLAND EMPIRE UNITED,
Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

**BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY;
ROBERT A. LOVINGOOD; JANICE RUTHERFORD;
CURT HAGMAN; and JOSIE GONZALES,**
Defendants and Appellants,

DAWN ROWE,
Real Party in Interest and Appellant.

After an Order by the Court of Appeal of the State of California,
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two
Case No. E073730

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California,
County of San Bernardino, Department 29, Honorable Janet M. Frangie
Case No. CIVDS1833846

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*STACEY LEYTON (SBN 203827)

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

subdivision (a), the district attorney or interested person [must] make a demand of the legislative body to cure or correct the action alleged to have been taken in violation of [the Act].” (§ 54960.1, subd. (b).) Such demand—which must “be in writing and clearly describe the challenged action of the legislative body and nature of the alleged violation” (*ibid.*)—must be made within 30 or 90 days, depending on whether the violation took place in open or closed session. (*Id.*, subd. (c)(1).) The legislative body then has 30 days to cure or correct its violation, or to inform the demanding party in writing that it will not do so. (*Id.*, subd. (c)(2).) Upon the earlier of such written notice or expiration of the cure-or-correct period, the demanding party has 15 days to commence an action. (*Id.*, subd. (c)(4); see also *id.*, subd. (c)(3).) If at any time during the pendency of such action, the legislative body cures or corrects its violation, the action must be dismissed with prejudice. (*Id.*, subd. (e).) And, as noted above, an action may not be invalidated if it is in “substantial compliance” with the Act. (*Id.*, subd. (d)(1).)

These provisions evince “the Legislature[’s] ... purpose to authorize the nullification and voidance of an action taken ... in violation of the act’s notice or open-and-public-meeting requirement, but only under strict conditions.” (*Regents, supra*, 20 Cal.4th at p. 527 [discussing similar provisions in § 11130.3].) Although these conditions may differ from those governing election contests, they strike no less careful a “balance between ... permit[ting] the nullification and voidance of certain actions” and “imperil[ing] the finality of even such actions unduly.” (*Ibid.*) Thus, any distinctions between the Brown Act and the Elections Code are immaterial: Both statutory schemes amply “reflect[] careful consideration by the Legislature” (OBM at p. 50).

2. By enacting section 54960.1, the Legislature intended to provide a more effective alternative to previously existing remedies.

Prior to section 54960.1's enactment, "any action taken at a meeting in violation of the ... Act [remained] nonetheless valid." (Legis. Counsel's Dig., Assem. Bill No. 2674 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 4, 1986, p. 2.) As a result, "local agencies [were] able to skirt the spirit and letter of the law, and thus conduct public business without public participation." (AB 2674 Analysis, *supra*, at p. 4.) The Legislature adopted section 54960.1 to address this problem: By authorizing the use of mandamus to "render these actions null and void," the Legislature "put[] 'teeth' into the Brown Act." (*Ibid.*)

Section 54960.1 thus manifests the Legislature's intent to bolster the Act's enforcement scheme with a more effective remedy. Appellants nevertheless maintain that this remedy is foreclosed because "[m]andamus is not available where there is another plain, speedy, and adequate remedy" such as quo warranto. (OBM at pp. 47-48.)⁵ But, again, this common law rule has no application where, as under the Brown Act, the Legislature "specially prescribe[s]" a mandamus action. (*McKannay, supra*, 151 Cal. at p. 716.) It would make especially little sense to apply the rule here, where the Legislature's enactment of section 54960.1 necessarily reflects its view that other available remedies are insufficient. (See AB 2674 Analysis, *supra*, at p. 4 [Legislature adopted section 54960.1 precisely because previously existing remedies failed to prevent local agencies from

⁵ The lone decision Appellants cite for this principle is inapposite. (OBM at pp. 47-48.) *Beames v. City of Visalia* (2019) 43 Cal.App.5th 741 merely observed that a "mandamus proceeding ... is '[an]other proper proceeding for redress' "—as opposed to " 'an action at law' " or " 'suit in equity' "—under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. (*Id.* at p. 781, fn. 10.)

“skirt[ing] the spirit and letter of the law, and thus conduct public business without public participation.”]; *Shoemaker v. Meyers* (1990) 52 Cal.3d 1, 22 [“If the Legislature had considered [existing remedies] to be adequate, it would not have been necessary to add [a different remedy].) If, as Appellants contend (OBM at p. 48), quo warranto was one such existing remedy, then it is not a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy for violations of the Act.

Other aspects of the Brown Act’s legislative history confirm that the Legislature did not intend for quo warranto’s regular use to enforce the Act. In 1969, the Legislature considered a provision that would have authorized “[a]n action in quo warranto ... for the removal from office of such person[s]” who knowingly violate the Act. (Assem. Bill No. 2297 (1969 Reg. Sess.) § 5, as introduced Apr. 8, 1969.) Notably, the proposed amendment would have also authorized a court, as part of such a quo warranto proceeding, to “set aside any action taken at a meeting in violation of [the statute].” (*Ibid.*) But the Legislature ultimately declined to enact this provision. (See Stats. 1969, ch. 494, § 2, p. 1106.) Instead, the Legislature later chose to authorize an action by mandamus or injunction—not quo warranto—to invalidate actions that violate the Act. (§ 54960.1, subd. (a).)

That the Legislature rejected quo warranto as a tool for enforcing the Act is unsurprising given the fundamentally different interests quo warranto serves. Quo warranto originated as “a writ of right for the king” and was “frequently subverted from its legitimate purposes and used as a means of strengthening the king’s prerogative at the expense of his subjects.” (*IAFF, supra*, 174 Cal.App.3d at pp. 695, 696.) Though quo warranto “has evolved ... its essential character is that it is still a prerogative of the sovereign state.” (OBM at p. 32, citing *Citizens Utilities Co. v. Superior*

Court (1976) 56 Cal.App.3d 399, 406 [“[T]he remedy of quo warranto belongs to the state”].)

In contrast, the Act establishes the rights of individuals *relative to* the state: “The people of this State do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies which serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on ... retain[ing] control over the instruments they have created.”

(§ 54950; see also Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subds. (b)(1)-(2).) It would run directly counter to these principles to require individuals to seek leave from another agency in order to challenge violations of the Act, especially when section 54960.1 expressly provides for enforcement by “any interested person.”

The Act contains other provisions indicating that the Legislature did not intend for quo warranto to be the exclusive method for challenging any violations of the Act. The Act requires potential claimants to first make a written “demand of the legislative body to cure or correct the [complained-of] action” (§ 54960.1, subd. (b)), and affords the legislative body a 30-day window to address its violation and thereby avoid litigation (*id.*, subd. (c)(2)). These conditions, however, would not attach to quo warranto actions to try title, insofar as they apply only to actions “commenced pursuant to [section 54960.1], subdivision (a)” (*id.*, subds. (b), (c)(4), (d)). Not only is quo warranto a distinct and independent action against “any person who usurps, intrudes into, or unlawfully holds or exercises any public office” rather than a local agency (Code Civ. Proc., § 803; see OBM at pp. 30-32 [quo warranto is separate “procedural vehicle ... for addressing underlying substantive rights” that is subject to its own “guidelines”]), but

nothing in quo warranto’s statutory or regulatory scheme requires adherence to conditions or procedures set forth elsewhere.⁶

Moreover, section 54960.1 does not contemplate that the Attorney General can challenge a Brown Act violation “upon his own information,” as the quo warranto statute otherwise authorizes him to do (Code Civ. Proc., § 803). Section 54960.1 confers standing only on a “district attorney or any interested person”—and not the Attorney General—to “demand” that an agency “cure or correct” a violation of the Act (§ 54960.1, subsd. (a), (b)), and then, absent cure or correction, to “commence an action by mandamus or injunction” (*id.*, subd. (a)).

The normal course of a quo warranto proceeding is also inconsistent with the Legislature’s concern for the timely prosecution of Brown Act violations.⁷ Whereas section 54960.1 requires that local agencies be

⁶ Any claim that section 54960.1’s requirements apply under quo warranto would also be at odds with Appellants’ argument that section 54960.1 does not apply to “challenges to the right to office.” (OBM at p. 50.) Moreover, such a position would set an impermissible trap for the unwary, given the absence of any authority suggesting section 54960.1’s application to quo warranto.

⁷ Respondents’ mandamus petition took an unusually long time to resolve because Appellants repeatedly sought to drag out the superior court proceedings. Appellants filed successive demurrers, including on grounds previously rejected by the court (Exhibits to Appellants’ Motion to Augment Record on Review, Exh. E, p. 316 [“The Court does not see any reason to deviate from its prior ruling on the demurrer ... and construes [Appellants’] renewed argument as an improper request for reconsideration.”]); sought to preclude entry of the superior court’s judgment on the clearly erroneous ground that the premature “Notice of Appeal of the Statement of Decision ... divested [the superior court] of jurisdiction to enter a judgment” (Exh. 21 at p. 396); and objected to the judgment on grounds that were “heard, considered and rejected by [the superior court] during the writ proceeding” (*id.* at p. 401).

notified of violations within 30 or 90 days, depending on the nature of the violation (§ 54960.1, subd. (c)(1)), and allows only 15 days to commence a section 54960.1 action once it has accrued (*id.*, subd. (c)(4)), no similar restrictions apply to quo warranto actions. In fact, the Attorney General typically allows proposed defendants 15 days simply to *respond* to a quo warranto application (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 11, § 3; see also *id.*, § 4 [providing 10 more days for reply to proposed defendant’s response]), and there appears to be no limit on how long the Attorney General may take to decide such applications (see *People ex rel. Lacey v. Robles* (2020) 44 Cal.App.5th 804, 812-813 [application filed in April; leave granted in December]; *Rando v. Harris* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 868, 873 (*Rando*) [application filed in May; leave denied in October]). Moreover, whereas mandamus actions can be resolved within as little as 10 days (see Code Civ. Proc., § 1088; see also *Disenhouse v. Peevey* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1096, 1102 [noting, in discussing Bagley-Keene Act’s near-identical remedy, that “a petition for writ of mandate is an authorized means of enforcing the Act and is consistent with the Legislature’s intent to commence and resolve such enforcement actions promptly”]), quo warranto allows for no similar expeditious relief.⁸

Accordingly, had Respondents proceeded through quo warranto rather than section 54960.1, neither they nor the Attorney General would have been required to provide the Board with notice of its violations; to give the Board an opportunity to cure or correct its violations before filing suit; or to file suit in timely fashion. Given these material differences

⁸ Although the Attorney General may grant leave to sue on an expedited timeline “[i]n special cases and upon a sufficient showing of urgent necessity” (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 11, § 10; see also *id.*, § 3), there is no procedure for expediting judicial resolution of quo warranto actions as under Code of Civil Procedure section 1088.

between the two procedures, it is altogether unlikely that the Legislature intended for section 54960.1 to be foreclosed by quo warranto as Appellants suggest. (See *State Personnel Bd. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 422, 434 (plur. opn.) [differences between two remedial schemes defeat claim that availability of one remedy forecloses other remedy].)

Finally, Appellants' reliance on *Klose, supra*, 96 Cal.App.2d 913, and *IAFF, supra*, 174 Cal.App.3d 687, for the proposition that "quo warranto does provide a plain, speedy and adequate remedy" is misplaced. (OBM at p. 36.) " " " "The question whether there is a "plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law" ... is one of fact, depending upon the circumstances of each particular case.' " " " (*Flores v. Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 199, 206.) Neither *Klose* nor *IAFF* involved challenges to an appointment process; considered whether quo warranto is a sufficient remedy for purposes of the Brown Act; or addressed the use of mandamus expressly authorized by statute. And *Klose's* observation that the quo warranto proceeding there would involve all necessary parties does not apply here (see *Klose*, at p. 925), insofar as Respondents' dispute is with the Board, which would *not* be a necessary party to a quo warranto action against Rowe (see, e.g., OBM at p. 33 [quo warranto requires only "notice to the office holder"]). Thus, *Klose* and *IAFF* have no bearing on whether quo warranto provides an adequate remedy in the instant case.⁹

⁹ A recent Court of Appeal decision also casts doubt on the proposition that an "extraordinary" remedy like quo warranto is available in "the ordinary course of law." (*Villery v. Department of Corrections & Rehabilitation* (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 407, 415-416 [declining to find that "extraordinary remedy" of habeas corpus is available in "ordinary course of law"]; see *Gales v. Superior Court* (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 1596, 1602 ["[T]he term

3. Article I, section 3 of the California Constitution requires the Court to construe the Brown Act broadly.

Even if the Legislature’s authorization of Respondents’ mandamus action were not so clearly established by the Act’s text, purpose, and history, the California Constitution’s directive that “[a] statute, court rule, or other authority ... be broadly construed if it furthers the people’s right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access” precludes Appellants’ restrictive reading of section 54960.1. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 3, subd. (b)(2), added by Prop. 59, as approved by voters, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2004); see also *id.*, subd. (b)(1).) Prohibiting members of the public from challenging the appointments of officials under section 54960.1 would undoubtedly limit their right of access, insofar as it would require individuals to obtain government approval before vindicating such right and otherwise make it more difficult to enforce the Act. The Court should decline to adopt any such statutory interpretation. (See *National Lawyers Guild, San Francisco Bay Area Chapter v. City of Hayward* (Cal., May 28, 2020, No. S252445) 2020 WL 2761057, at *11.)

B. Quo warranto is not the exclusive remedy where, as here, any challenge to an officeholder’s title is incidental to a distinct, predominant claim.

Quo warranto does not preclude Respondents’ Brown Act challenge for an additional reason. The gravamen of Respondents’ challenge was that the Board’s process of filling its vacancy violated the Act. Respondents did not purport to try Rowe’s title in the ordinary sense, insofar as they did not dispute Rowe’s general qualifications or eligibility to serve on the Board (compare, e.g., *Hallinan v. Mellon* (1963) 218 Cal.App.2d 342, 344

‘extraordinary remedy’ ... refers to writs of mandamus, quo warranto, habeas corpus, and other similar actions.”]; OBM at p. 56 [quo warranto imposes “high bar ... to bring the action in the first place”].)

[dispute over officeholder’s residency]), or claim that any other individual was entitled to the vacant seat (compare, e.g., *Nicolopoulos v. City of Lawndale* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1221, 1226 [ousted officeholder sought restoration to seat]). Any arguable attack on Rowe’s title was thus too incidental to trigger quo warranto’s exclusivity. (See *Stout, supra*, 40 Cal.2d at p. 94; *McKannay, supra*, 151 Cal. at p. 715.)

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